FILED
MAR 02 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

FILED
February 23, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 94208.1
Court of Appeals No. 32683-7-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,

v.

RAY LENY BETANCOURTH,
Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Suzanne Lee Elliott
Attorney for Petitioner
1300 Hoge Building
705 Second Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 623-0291

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Ray Leny Betancourth, through his attorney, Suzanne Lee Elliott, seeks review designated in Part II.

**II.
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision affirming in part and reversing in part. *State v. Betancourth*, No. 32683-7-III, on January 31, 2017.

**III.
ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

May the appellate court adopt a new exception to the warrant requirement – the “invalidity correction corollary” – where that exception violates Const., Art. I, § 7?

**IV.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A jury found Betancourth guilty of second degree felony murder and first degree assault. Betancourth appealed and argued that his convictions for second degree felony murder and first degree assault should be reversed because the prosecutor misstated the law in closing argument, his statements to the police were involuntary, the cell phone text messages were received pursuant to a defective warrant, and even if

the warrant was not defective, the Yakima County Superior Court had no jurisdiction to issue a warrant for records held outside Washington.

In its initial unpublished decision, Division III reversed the second degree murder count because the prosecutor misstated the law and remanded the matter to the superior court for retrial. But that Court did not suppress a piece of evidence relied on extensively by the State – text messages seized from the telephone company. In one text Betancourth said that he wanted to “beat the shit” out of the victims. The State used this phrase more than 30 times in closing argument.

Betancourth argued that the text messages were inadmissible because they were seized without a valid warrant. On September 25, 2012, a Yakima County District Court judge issued a warrant for Betancourth’s phone records to Cellco Partnership, dba Verizon Wireless, in New Jersey. CP 9-14. That warrant was faxed to (888) 667-0026. Cellco responded and provided records associated with phone number (509) 314-1688. CP 9.

In October 2013, the State asked police to seek an identical search warrant from a Superior Court judge because a district court judge did not have the power to issue a warrant for records held outside the State of Washington. RP 153. On October 15, 2013, Detective Dunsmore faxed the new warrant to a different entity, “Verizon Legal Compliance” at a

different phone number – (908) 306-7491. CP 85. The facsimile face page stated:

These records were requested by a district court warrant previously. Based on recent court ruling [sic] they need to be based on a superior court warrant.

Id. No records were ever provided under this warrant. RP 148. The police did not try to get a warrant in the state where the records were retained. RP 159.

In responding to the defense motion to suppress the records sent to the police pursuant to the invalid warrant, the State argued that the “independent source doctrine set forth in *State v. Miles*, 160 Wn.2d 236, 156 P.3d 864 (2007), applies in the present case and the text messaging records should not be suppressed due to the subsequent Superior Court search warrant.” CP 39.

The trial court made an oral ruling, but no findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered. The judge stated that the Yakima County Superior Court warrant was entitled to “full faith and credit throughout the United States.” RP 186. He found that the district court warrant did not “taint” the superior court warrant because “it was really nothing more than a technical error that was corrected appropriately.” *Id.* Finally, he ruled that requiring the phone company to respond to the second warrant would have been a “fruitless effort.” RP 187.

Despite the fact that it reversed the felony murder conviction and remanded for a new trial, Division III said that:

we do not address whether the prosecution engaged in misconduct when repeating, during closing, Betancourth's text message of wanting to "beat the shit out of Terrance Frank." We also decline to address the introduction as evidence of the Verizon records since any defect can be cured before a retrial.

Slip Opinion at 20.

Betancourth sought reconsideration because the text messages were also used to convict him of first degree assault and there admission might become an issue on retrial of the felony murder charge. The Court granted reconsideration and sought briefing on the application of the independent source doctrine. Betancourth filed a brief and argued that there was no "independent source" in this case. The State conceded that the district court warrant was invalid because it exceeded that court's jurisdiction. The evidence admitted was the evidence seized by the use of the district court warrant. The second Superior Court warrant was directed to a different legal entity in a different state. Compare CP 9-14 with CP 85. But no records were ever obtained by use of the Superior Court warrant from the state in which the records were maintained. RP 148, 149. Nonetheless, the State argued that their admission was supported by the independent source doctrine.

On January 31, 2017, the Court of Appeals withdrew its earlier decision and filed a new unpublished decision. Appendix 1. The Court rejected the State's argument that the independent source doctrine applied because the "messages arrived only in response to an invalid warrant." Slip Opinion at 43.

However, Division II found that it could adopt "a corollary to the independent source doctrine, which corollary we christen the invalidity correction corollary." Slip Opinion at 44. Under that newly formulated exception, Division III found that the text messages were admissible.

Betancourth again moved for reconsideration but the Court denied reconsideration in all respects except for making it clear it was not creating a "good faith" exception to the warrant requirement. Slip Opinion at 47.

V.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THE APPELLATE COURT'S INVENTION OF A NEW EXCEPTION TO THE WARRANT REQUIREMENT IS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF STATE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW. RAP 13.4(B)(3).

"Generally, evidence seized during an illegal search is suppressed under the exclusionary rule." *State v. Gaines*, 154 Wn.2d 711, 716-17, 116 P.3d 993 (2005) (citation omitted). "In addition, evidence derived

from an illegal search may also be subject to suppression under the ‘fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine.’” *Gaines*, 154 Wn.2d at 717 (citations omitted). Unlike the Fourth Amendment, Article I, § 7 focuses on the rights of the individual rather than on the reasonableness of the government action and is, thus, not subject to the good faith or inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule. *State v. Winterstein*, 167 Wn.2d 620, 636, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009) (rejecting inevitable discovery doctrine under Article I, § 7); *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 184, 233 P.3d 879 (2010) (rejecting good faith doctrine under Article I, § 7). Rather, the exclusionary rule is mandatory under our state constitution because it “saves article I, section 7 from becoming a meaningless promise . . . Exclusion provides a remedy for the citizen in question and saves the integrity of the judiciary by not tainting our proceedings by illegally obtained evidence.” *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343, 359-60, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) (citations omitted).

Division III found that a single 1992 Third Circuit case, *United States v. Herrold*, 962 F.2d 1131 (3d Cir.), *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 958, 113 S.Ct. 421, 121 L.Ed.2d 344 (1992), provided the basis for the Court to adopt a corollary to that doctrine of inevitable discovery which “we christen the invalidity correction corollary.” *Id.* at 44. That court noted:

We recognize that the Washington State Supreme Court has not addressed the invalidity correction corollary.¹ We conclude, however, that our State Supreme Court would adopt this corollary because of the illogic of requiring evidence to be produced a second time once law enforcement procures a valid warrant and the first warrant did not contaminate the latter warrant.

Id. at 46-47.

This doctrine appears to be based upon the assumption that had the police served a new, valid warrant on the phone company, the warrant would have produced exactly the same information that had been produced under the invalid warrant. Thus, “it would be senseless to demand that Toppenish law enforcement require Verizon to send another copy of the text messages already forwarded once by Verizon.” RP 46. This conclusion misapprehends a considerable body of the jurisprudence regarding Const., Art. I, § 7.

First, although they protect similar interests, “the protections guaranteed by article I, section 7 of the state constitution are qualitatively different from those provided by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” *State v. McKinney*, 148 Wn.2d 20, 26, 60 P.3d 46 (2002). The Fourth Amendment protects only against “unreasonable searches” by the State, leaving individuals subject to any manner of

¹ This is not surprising since the entire concept was invented by the appellate court in the opinion in this case.

warrantless, but reasonable searches. U.S. Const., amend. IV (“The right of the people to be secure in their ... houses ... against unreasonable searches ... shall not be violated...”); *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 187, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 111 L.Ed.2d 148 (1990) (“[W]hat is at issue ... is not whether the right to be free of searches has been waived, but whether the right to be free of unreasonable searches has been violated.”).

By contrast, Article I, section 7 is unconcerned with the reasonableness of the search, but instead requires a warrant before any search, reasonable or not. Const., Art. I, § 7 (“No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law.”). This is because “[u]nlike in the Fourth Amendment, the word ‘reasonable’ does not appear in any form in the text of article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution.” *State v. Morse*, 156 Wn.2d 1, 9, 123 P.3d 832 (2005).

Given this significant difference between the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7, application of an “invalidity correction corollary” based upon the Third Circuit’s Fourth Amendment analysis is simply wrong. The State Constitution prohibits this Court from retroactively and hypothetically correcting the errors of the police at the expense of a defendant’s right to keep his private affairs undisturbed. The Court’s adoption of this doctrine is simply a guise for importing a “good faith” or

“reasonableness” analysis into Const., Art. 1, § 7. This Court has held that those doctrines do not apply to the State Constitution.

Therefore, if a police officer has disturbed a person’s “private affairs,” we do not ask whether the officer’s belief that this disturbance was justified was objectively reasonable, but simply whether the officer had the requisite “authority of law.” If not, any evidence seized unlawfully will be suppressed. With very few exceptions, whenever the right of privacy is violated, the remedy follows automatically.

Afana, 169 Wn.2d at 180.

Because this Court concluded that the documents were obtained without authority of law, they should have been suppressed.² The introduction of these documents should be prohibited at any retrial of the murder count. And because the unconstitutionally seized records were introduced to support the assault charge, this Court should reverse that count as well.