# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

# **CLERK'S OFFICE**

4/24/2017 4:57 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 94208-1

COA 32683-7-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

RAY LENY BETANCOURTH, Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

#

# A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

At issue is the unpublished court of appeals decision filed on December 8, 2016 in Division Three of the Court of Appeals.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the unpublished court of appeals decision meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)?

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Ray Leny Betancourth, was charged with first degree murder and first degree assault. CP 3-4. He was found guilty of both counts. CP 182, 184. Prior to trial, there were many motion hearings, including a CrR 3.6 hearing.

During the 3.6 hearing, Betancourth moved to suppress Verizon Wireless phone records. At issue was the fact that detectives first secured a District Court warrant for the out-of-state phone records and then later obtained a Superior Court warrant for the same records. RP 152-3.

Detective Brownell testified that he sought the second warrant to satisfy a previous ruling made on a different case by a Superior Court judge. RP 157. The second warrant did not seek any new records not already obtained from the first warrant. RP 167. Prior to obtaining any warrants,

however, a preservation letter had been sent to Verizon Wireless. RP 140, 154.

The court ruled that the second warrant was to correct a technical error and that demanding the physical records be sent a second time would have been fruitless. RP 186-7. The motion to suppress was denied. *Id*.

Betancourth appealed. Division III reversed the felony murder conviction and remanded for a new trial. The court initially declined to consider the issue of the Verizon records but after a motion for reconsideration, held that the text message were properly admitted.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. The trial court properly admitted Verizon phone records after a second warrant corrected a technical error.

Under RCW 10.96.060, only a Superior Court judge may issue a warrant to recipients outside of the State of Washington. That statute provides as follows:

# 10.96.060. Issuance of criminal process.

A judge of the superior court may issue any criminal process to any recipient at any address, within or without the state, for any matter over which the court has criminal jurisdiction pursuant to RCW 9A.04.030. This section does not limit a court's authority to issue warrants or legal process under other provisions of state law.

Betancourth argued below that because officers did not get a second set of records, the independent source doctrine does not apply. He suggested that after getting a Superior Court warrant, officers would have had to return the records obtained from the invalid District Court warrant to the phone company and ask for a new set of records identical to the ones they returned.

But Courts have held that the independent source doctrine applies even where the seized goods are kept in the police's possession. *See, e.g., State v. Herrold*, 962 F.2d 1131 (3d Cir. 1992). If the item seized is this case was marijuana, there would be no need to return the marijuana and then seize it again after securing the Superior Court warrant. Demanding such a result would be senseless.

The independent source doctrine is a "well-established exception to the exclusionary rule." *State v. Miles*, 159 Wn. App. 282, 291, 244 P.3d 1030 (2011). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Murray v. United States*, 487 U.S. 533, 108 S. Ct. 2529, 101 L. Ed. 2d 472 (1988), is the "controlling authority' defining the contours of the independent source exception." *Id.* at 292. In *Murray*, the court held that the Fourth Amendment does not require the suppression of evidence discovered during police officers' illegal entry if that evidence is also discovered during a later search pursuant to a valid search warrant that is independent

of the illegal entry. *Murray*, 487 U.S. at 542. The Supreme Court stated that:

The ultimate question . . . is whether the search pursuant to warrant was in fact a genuinely independent source of the information and tangible evidence at issue here. This would not have been the case if the agents' decision to seek the warrant was prompted by what they had seen during the initial entry, or if information obtained during that entry was presented to the Magistrate and affected his decision to issue the warrant.

Id.

Accordingly, in Washington, courts have interpreted the requirements in *Murray* to have two prongs, both of which must be satisfied. "Under the independent source exception, an unlawful search does not invalidate a subsequent search if (1) the issuance of the search warrant is based on untainted, independently obtained information and (2) the State's decision to seek the warrant is not motivated by the previous unlawful search and seizure." *Miles*, 159 Wn. App. at 285.

In *State v. Green*, the Court of Appeals distinguished two federal cases and noted that "valid warrants in *Herrold* and *United State v. May*, 214 F.3d 900 (7th Cir. 2000), specifically authorized the search and seizure of the evidence at issue (the gun and cash), providing a clear

independent source to seek and seize the evidence." *State v. Green*, 177 Wn. App. 332, 346, 312 P.3d 669 (2013).

In *Herrold*, police officers made an initial unlawful entry into a trailer and saw drugs and a loaded gun in plain view. 962 F.2d at 1134. They waited for a search warrant to seize the drugs but seized the gun during the initial entry. *Id.* at 1134-35. The search warrant affidavit included observations of the gun and drugs inside the trailer. *Id.* at 1135. They executed a search warrant later that night and seized the drugs. *Id.* The Third Circuit held that the drugs and gun were admissible under the independent source doctrine because, even excluding information obtained during the initial entry, the warrant was still supported by probable cause. *Id.* at 1140-44. The court concluded that although the gun was seized during the illegal entry, it should be treated as seized under the search warrant, which specifically authorized the seizure of firearms. *Id.* at 1143.

The court stated:

It would be dangerous to require officers to leave a fully-loaded, semi-automatic weapon unsecured until they obtained a warrant, and senseless to require the formality of physically re-seizing the gun already seized during the initial entry. Thus, the only logical implication under Murray is that the gun is as admissible under the independent source doctrine as the other, non-dangerous evidence, seen during the initial entry but

not seized until the warrant-authorized search.

Id.

Similarly, it would be senseless to require the formality of returning the records to the phone company and having them hand over the same exact records back to the officers. An executive relations analyst for Verizon Wireless testified at the CrR 3.6 hearing. RP 138. She indicated that no documents were sent after the second search warrant because "it would have been the same information we had already provided." RP 147. Like the gun in *Herrold*, although the records were first subpoenaed pursuant to an invalid District Court warrant, they should be treated as seized under the valid Superior Court search warrant that was subsequently issued. In summary, the records were properly admitted under the independent source doctrine.

In the opinion below, however, the Court of Appeals held that the records were properly admitted under the invalidity correction corollary. Regardless of what you call the basis for admission of the records, either the independent source doctrine, or the invalidity correction corollary, the records were properly admitted at trial. The Court of Appeal's decision does not violate Article 1, Section 7.

# F. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). First of all, the decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. Second, a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is not involved. Lastly, the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. As such, his petition for review should be denied.